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Cultural Affiliation -N/A 

Narrative Statement of Significance (Explain the significance of the property on one or more continuation sheets.) 

Previous documentation on file (NPS) 
- preliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) has been 

requested. 
- previously listed in the National Register 
- previously determined eligible by the National Register 
- designated a National Historic Landmark 
- recorded by Historic American Buildings Survey d 
- recorded by Historic American Engineering Record # 

Primary Location of Additional Data 
- X- State Historic Preservation Office 
- Other State agency 
- Federal agency 

Local government 
- University 
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Name of repositoly: Virginia Department of Historic Resources 

UTM References (Place additional UTM references on a continuation sheet) 

Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing 
1 17 633540 4172520 2 17 633640 4172360 
3 17 633320 4172020 4 17 633200 4172120 
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Fancy Hill mansion is located in southern Rockbridge County, Virginia at the junction of S. Lee mghway 
and Falling Spring Road. Falling Spring Road leads to historic Falling Spring Church located 
approximately 2.3 miles away. The 2 I-acre property is fairly level, providing a setting of extensive lawns 
and mature trees for the mansion and its outbuildings --all of which are currently maintained in excellent 
condition. Fancy Hill was constructed during two major building campaigns and a period of minor 
alteratiodaddition. The first building campaign completed ca. 1821 resulted in a two-story, five-bay, 
single pile, center passage, brick residence. Approximately ten years later, ca. 1831, the second building 
campaign created the imposing eight-bay Federal style mansion. A subsequent period of alteration 
ca. 1840 resulted in the addition of front and back two-story porches and two small rooms at the back of 
the house leaving the structure as it appears today. The west-facing two-story dwelling is constructed of 
brick laid in Flemish bond and has a portico across much of the front. There is a 1 112-story north wing 
which replaces the old kitchen and dates from the 1936 renovation of the house. The two-story porch at 
the back of the house was enclosed with weatherboard siding during this renovation. Three contributing 
outbuildings located north of the mansion were constructed over a period of several years starting around 
1940. The first is a large gabled two-story barn, called the granary, with two octagonal roof vents and 
with shed extensions to the north and east sides. The second is a three-bay equipment garage with a 
shed roof and small attached shed extension. The third is a small shed sited southeast of the barn. All 
three outbuildings are of frame construction with weatherboard siding (painted white) and standing-seam 
metal roofs (painted green) 

Fancy Hill is one of the seven fine brick mansions known as The Seven Hills of Rockbridge. The original 
five-bay brick house completed ca. 1821 was built for Thomas Welch I1 and his wife, the former Sarah 
Grigsby.' The residence was sited on a large tract of roiling farmland bisected by "The Great Path," the 
Native American name for what was later called "The Valley Road." Welch settled on the land at Fancy 
Hill in Rockbridge County in 1779.' It is therefore likely that a dwelling existed on this land before the 
1820s. The two-story brick house has been used for several different functions, serving as a dwelling, a 
stagecoach stop and tavern and, after the Civil War, as a boarding school for boys. During the early 
1900s, Fancy Hill fell into disrepair. In 1934, when Elmer R. Knick purchased the property which then 
included 329 acres, he planned to demolish the old mansion and replace it with a new Cape Cod house. 
However, Dr. Edmund P. Tompkins and The Rockbridge Historical Sociely prevailed upon Mr. Knick not 
to demolish this old landmark as it was one of the most noted of the Seven Hills and the most beautiful 
place in  Rockbridge County. Mr. Knick agreed and decided to renovate Fancy Hill instead. Carl Smith, a 
carpenter who worked on the restoration of Colonial Williamsburg, was employed for the renovation 
which began in 1936 and continued for several years.' APcer Mr. Knick's death in 1985. Fancy Hill was 
purchased by Mr. and Mrs. Gerald Vaughn who undertook additional renovation. Today, Fancy Hill 
remains at its original site on a 21-acre parcel amid meticulously maintained lawns and mature trees. The 
surrounding area, which once was the original plantation, is still semi-rural rolling farmland, allowing 
one driving past to get a true sense of how Virginia was long ago. 
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Architectural Analysis 

The constmction of the original five-bay brick house was completed ca. 1821 at a cost of $1,350: The 
second building campaign, ca. 1831, enlarged the house to eight bays and changed the original single-pile 
plan to a double-pile plan. Fancy Hill is the largest of the group of elite houses known as The Seven Hills 
of Rockbridge and the second of the group to be built. 

An eight-bay Federal style house with gable roof, molded brick cornices and an elaborate Greek Revival 
double-galleried Ionic portico, the building is one of the most impressive in the county. The walls and 
foundation are brick, laid in Flemish bond. The end walls of the main section of the house have windows 
on the attic level between the chimneys. The wocd double-hung windows at the front of the original five- 
bay brick house are twelve~ver-twelve with a jack arch and eight~ver-twelve above with a flat arch. 
They appear to be original. All other windows are double-hung six~ver-six. The interior walls are 
plaster. The floors are original with the exception of the room on the first floor in the southwest comer. 
The interior of the mansion retains most of the features from the early 19th century, including Federal 
style chair rails and wainscoting, raised panel doors and beautifully detailed mantels in both Greek 
Revival and Federal styles. 

The original house was a five-bay, center passage, brick dwelling with two stories, each having a central 
door with fan light. On the second story, a molded brick cornice is intermpted on either side of the door, 
indicating the probable presence of a two-story pedimented porch on the original building. A brick, two- 
story double-pile wing was added to the north side, probably within a decade of the original construction. 
expanding the facade to eight bays with another set of doors with fan lights at each level. The wing also 
carries a molded brick cornice. At some point soon after the addition of the wing, probably in the late 
1830s or early 1840s, a two-story, two-level porch with Ionic columns and a pediment was added across 
the front facade to regularize the eight bays. 

It is also likely during this period, ca. 1840, that an alteration was made at the back of the original five- 
bay brick house adding a two-story, two-level porch and two small rooms, one on the first story and one 
on the second story at the southeast comer of the house. The south brick wall was extended and the roof 
was also changed at this point to accommodate the wider span. 

The mantels in both of the main rooms of the original five-bay brick house have been replaced with Greek 
Revival style substitutes though the chair rail and wainscoting are Federal style. It is known that these 
mantels were not moved during the 1936 renovation or by the current owners; therefore it is likely that 
they were moved when the house was enlarged. One of the original Federal style mantels is located in the 
back bedroom of the second-story wing. The second floor mantels in the original five-hay brick house are 
also Federal style. They are original and in their original locations. The attic rafters are venically sawn. 
lap-jointed and pegged. The porch pediment shows evidence of once having a lung post. In the basement 
vertically sawn joists can be seen from the crawl space in the wing. 
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Architectural Analysis (continued) 

Because of the enlargement of the original house, the present-day floor plan is fairly complex, having two 
separate entry halls at the front of the house. Both have stairways to the second story. The entry hall to 
the right in the original five-bay brick house is more formal. It has noteworthy Federal style woodwork. 
especially an elliptical arch supported by coupled columns and an elegant stair curving upward to the 
second story and from there curving onward to the attic. The second entry hall to the left side has an 
unadorned stairway turning first to the right and then to the left as it rises to the bedrooms in the ca. 183 1 
double-pile wing. On the second floor of the wing, the northwest bedroom accesses a free-standing 
balcony which leads to the porch. Oral tradition suggests that this balcony was at one time enclosed with 
iron bars to house prisoners being transported by stagecoach. 

The floor plan shows that the ca. 1831 double-pile wing is at a different level from the ca. 1821 house. 
For example, the front porch, doorway from the living room to the second entry hall, and doorway from 
the enclosed back porch to the kitchen all have two steps going down to the wing. Similarly, there are 
three doors accessing the ca. 1840 back porch and addition, all with one step down to the back section of 
the house. 

During the renovation that began in 1936, the roof was replaced with Johns Manville asbestos shingles. 
The porticos were repaired with redwood floors. The back porticos were enclosed with weatherboard and 
an entrance stairway to the basement was built at the side of the back port~co. The floor in the room on 
the first floor southwest corner of the house was beyond salvaging and was replaced with a random width 
pegged wood floor. The old barroom in the basement was paneled in knotty pine which remains in place 
today. The furnace, wiring and bathroom were installed, and the foundation was coated with cement to 
aid in waterproofing. The old kitchen on the north side of the mansion was beyond repair and was 
replaced by a double garage with garage dwrs at the back of the house.' The garage has a through hall on 
the first floor with front and back entrances and a stairway leading to the four room apartment on the 
second floor. The mansion remains an imposing structure of remarkable refinement as it has been since 
the final additions were completed in the 19th century. 

The three outbuildings were constructed by Mr. Knick around 1940 and present an attractive contrast to 
the mansion. They are well positioned on the site and are in keeping with the origins of Fancy Hill as a 
working farm. 
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Architectural Analysis (continued) 

After Mr. Knick's death in 1985, his heir, Eva Ferraba Hartbarger, sold Fancy Hill to its cunent owners, 
Gerald and Genie Vaughn. The Vaughns replaced the roof in 1986 using Spandura Ultra Slate. a 
concrete shingle closely resembling slate in appearance and color. They also sanded and refinished the 
wood floors. In 1987, a large master bath was installed in the small room on the second story at the 
soulheast corner of the house. In 1989, triple member crown molding was added and pediments were 
placed over the living room doors and fireplace. Glass doors were installed on the built-in dining room 
cabinets. Triple member crown molding with dental block was added to the master bedroom. The half- 
arch window in the pediment was added in 1990. Also in 1990. a fireplace was discovered behind a wall 
in what is now the kitchen, located at the back of the house on the first floor of the double-pile wing. The 
old mantel, which may at one time have been in the original five-bay brick house, was removed for 
refinishing and a temporary mantel was installed in its place. Fancy Hill remains in excellent condition, 
and its architectural integrity and significance continue to be an asset to southern Rockbridge County. 
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Endnotes 
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Statement of Significance (continued) 

Fancy Hill was the second of the Seven Hills to be built. Its owner, Thomas Welch 11, moved to 
Rockbridge County in 1779 and purchased the land that would later be known as Fancy Hill from his 
brother-in-law, James Grigsby. In 1821, a Federal style five-bay brick house was completed at Fancy Hill 
to serve as the residence for Welch and his wife, the former Sarah Grigsby.' Unfortunately in that same 
year, 1821, Thomas Welch I1 died and Fancy Hill was inherited by his son, Benjamin Welch.' It was 
Benjamin Welch who opened the house as a stagecoach stop and tavern. Its location approximately 
halfway between the towns of Lexington and Natural Bridge made it an ideal resting point for local people 
traveling in the three mile per hour world of the horse and buggy. It soon became a popular tavern and 
gathering place. The old files of The Lexinaon Gazette contain an advertisement from a local physician. 
Dr. Washington Dorsey, which says, "When not professionally engaged, I may be found at my ofice at 
Mr. Welch's Tavern at Fancy Hill."' Situated along "The Great Path," the Native American name for 
what was later called "The Valley Road," Fancy Hill also attracted long distance travelers. From the 
earliest times, this was a primary northeast-southwest transportation route linking Philadelphia with the 
lands to the west and southwest. Fancy Hill's accessibility made it ideal for use as a stagecoach stop and 
tavern. By 1836. Fancy Hill had a post ofice located near the mansion." 

The first Rockbridge Agricultural Society was organized at Fancy fil l  on Saturday, August 17, 1827 with 
Major James Matthews in the chair and James McDowell, Jr.. Secretary. The 13-article constitution was 
presented and agreed upon. Annual dues were set at $1 and life memberships at $30. Only members 
could be awarded prizes at the annual meeting in Lexington on the last Sunday in November. Some 40 
members signed the constitution on August 18, 1827. The officers were William Taylor, President; 
Captain Ruben Grigsby, Vice President; James McDowell, Jr., Corresponding Secretary; John Ruff. 
Recording Secretary; and John Camthen, Treasurer." The Rockbridge Agricultural Society was important 
to the large farming community of Rockbridge County by providing friendly competition, by sharing 
ideas to improve both crops and livestock and as a reason to gather socially after harvest time before the 
long winter set in. 

A second major building campaign occurred at Fancy Hill, ca. 1831, during which the house was enlarged 
to eight bays by the addition of a double-pile two-story wing at the north side. Shortly thereafter, an 
additional alteration was made, ca. 1840, when front and back two-story porches and two small rooms, 
one on each story at the back of the house, were added. 
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Statement of Significance (continued) 

Early education in Rockbridge consisted of isolated families who created "home school" systems in which 
relatives and neighbors shared expenses for tutors. If the area sewed by the home school grew, a private 
academy often began. Horse and buggy travel being what it was, students boarded either in a private 
home or in the "home academy" itself. In 1857, Falling Spring Church appointed a committee to secure a 
suitable place to establish a classical school. When none had been found by November, the matter was 
postponed. Afler the Civil War, David E. Laird and Col. W. T. Poague who sewed as both deacons and 
elders of Falling Spring Church continued to have an interest in establishing a school in the area. David 
Laird contracted to purchase Fancy Hill in 1874. It was around this time that Fancy Hill Academy, at first 
co-educational, was started at the mansion by Laird and Poague. The school ultimately became a 
boarding school for boys taught by Professor Laird." By 1870, Virginia joined the public school system 
but the need for higher learning to prepare young people for college enabled the private academies to 
continue into the late 1880s. The boys of the Laird school were to be seen almost every Sunday at Falling 
Spring Church. Frequently a large farm wagon would be piled with straw or tilled with chairs as seats for 
the boys and would presently draw up at the church door." Senator Miles Poindexter, a one-time student 
at Fancy Hill Academy, recalled that he entered the Academy at the age of twelve or thirteen." Since he 
was born in 1868, he was attending Fancy Hill Academy in the early 1880s. He went on to Washington 
& Lee University and, after graduation, moved to Walla Walla, Washington. Poindexter later sewed as a 
member of the 61st Congress. 1909--1911, and U. S. Senator from Washington for two terms, 191 I-- 
1923." 

During the period David E. Laird was involved with Fancy Hill, the title of the mansion was clouded by 
a lien resulting from a loan made by C. H. McCormick & Brother to I. G. Hamilton, the former owner. 
Fancy Hill was sold by order of the Circuit Court of Rockbridge. The sale which included the mansion 
and 398 acres was completed July 4. 1894; the new owners were Marcus C. Finney. Samuel C. Finney, 
and M. V. RichardsonM 
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Statement of Significance (continued) 

Over the next 40 years, the mansion fell into disrepair. It was in such bad condition that when Elmer 
Knick purchased Fancy Hill in 1934, his primary interest was in the land which then comprised 329 acres. 
He planned to tear down the old structure and to salvage what he could to build a modern Cape Cod 
house. Fortunately, by this time, people were beginning to have a real sense of history, and there was 
enough concern in the community to cause Dr. Edmund P. Tompkins and The Rockbridge Historical 
Society to approach Mr. Knick, asking him to reconsider demolishing this beautiful old landmark. They 
were successful and reconstruction began in 1936." This was a defining moment in the history of Fancy 
Hill. Thanks to the wisdom and flexibility of those involved, this beautiful mansion was preserved for us 
to enjoy today. Mr. K ~ c k  was also responsible for the construction beginning around 1940 of the three 
contributing outbuildings which remain on the Fancy Hill property north of the residence. 

Today, Fancy Hill stands in excellent condition on its original site. The other six Hills are also still 
standing and are all at their original sites. The Seven Hills are located within a few miles of one another 
in southern Rockbridge County 
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Verbal Boundary Description 

The Fancy Hill propew consists of approximately 21 acres with boundaries corresponding to those of the 
parcel owned by Gerald L. Vaughn and Genie S. Vaughn, Rockbridge Tax Map #97, parcel A-7B. 

Boundary Justification 

The tax parcel Map #97 - A - 7B boundary encompasses the house and enough surrounding land to 
suggest the historic context of the propeny. 












